
PLANNING BOARD & EB JOINT MEETING W/ LASSEL ARCHITECTS MINUTES 
6:00 p.m. 

 
In attendance: Dave Andreesen, Paul Boisvert, Niles Schore, Sean Winston, David Dow, John 
England, Mike Lassel, Kathy Connor, James Bellissimo, Frank Underwood, Pat Boisvert, Rick 

Vandenberg, Scott Richardson, Ruth Bleau, Jen Aubin, Laura Simard, Steve Eldridge, Kyle 
Flannagan. Referred to as “the group” throughout the minutes. 

 
Note: Some comments were compiled by category.  

  
Dave Andreesen called the meeting to order at 6:11 PM. Dave said that this is Mike Lassel’s 
show and that the group will listen to Mike’s presentation on Form Based Code and Design 
Standards in the Village Overlay District. Dave Andreesen said that after the meeting, the group 
will have two weeks to digest the information, to pick out what was liked, disliked, what should 
be added, etc.  
 
What Form Based Code Is 
Mike Lassel explained that a Form Based Code typically requires having a form, and aside from 
the remaining structures, there is no real form to build from. Because of this, Berwick is working 
towards a hybrid code. This code is prescriptive, meaning it tells a developer what the Town 
wants [opposed to Euclidian zoning which tells a developer what the Town does not want].  Mike 
provided an example of what features could be included in the code: streetscapes, facades, how 
green spaces work, where green spaces are located and how they connect. 
 
Mike Lassel said that for 200 years, downtowns were built logically with mixed use. The forms 
evolved naturally until Euclidian Zoning. Mike explained transects, which are categories of 
density that ranges from T-1 to T-6, a T-1 describes be a farm, where a T-6 describes the middle 
of Boston or New York City. 
 
Mike said that he sees one part downtown Berwick as T-4 identified, Mike suggested naming 
this the Estabrook/Doran Neighborhood. The more dense part of Prime is T-5, identified as the 
Main Street Neighborhood. The word neighborhood is substituted for transect because transect 
sounds like a medical procedure and neighborhood fits better with the Berwick Vision.  
 
Kathy stated that the Town could replace the Village Overlay District with the two 
neighborhoods. Paul Boisvert clarified that R1, R2, R3 will not be affected, Mike and Kathy 
confirm. 
 
Mike stated that developers love the form based code because the code gives the developer a 
clear idea of what the Planning Board wants. 



Main Street 
Mike Lassel stated that Main Street is the most important piece of the project, because currently 
Berwick does not have a Main Street. 
 
Dave Andreesen asked the group if they were sure Mark Kehaya had a Main Street from School 
to Sullivan in mind. James Bellissimo answered that unless the plan comes in completely 
different, there will be some road going through the middle of the property. It could be a plaza-
like through way that has car access, but it mostly catered to pedestrians, or more of a Main 
Street that will help circulate some traffic and capitalizes on the 18,000-car traffic. James’ 
understanding is that it leans more to the side of Main Street on the spectrum. 
 
Kyle Flanagan of Prime Lightworks asked the group whether they have considered a walking 
Main Street, restricted to pedestrians only. Rick Vandenberg stated that while the Church Street 
Vermont example is great, it may not be the best option for the Prime parcel. Dave Andreesen 
said that the Main Street would help the Town become creative with traffic circulation. James 
agreed with Dave by saying “exactly.’ 
 
Mike stated that the Town will want Main Street to have two-way traffic and parallel parking. 
Mike said that smaller urban areas need cars to survive, and that cars and people actually get 
along quite well. 
 
Lighting 
Mike Lassel provided an alternative lighting pole and fixture to James and Frank, which would 
come at a more affordable cost than the initial pole and fixture used in the Bartlett Lighting Plan. 
This fixture will keep with the theme from the lights from the bridge; it just won’t be the exact 
one. The fixture/pole will be shared with the rest group and should be decided upon soon.  
 
Design Standard Discussions 
Mike explained that the language could say how much of façade shall be transparent. The 
language is deep enough to explain how far a building opening should go. 
 
Paul Boisvert asked Mike about pre-existing conditions. Mike said that it would cover “all new,” 
and when buildings are renovated, there would be suggested forms explained in the code. 
 
Kathy Connor said existing buildings would get folded-in by businesses going in front of the 
Planning Board to set up shop. That would drive the whole process according to Kathy, in order 
to open a building; they would have to comply with certain design standards as far as they can. 
 
There are recommendations and requirements in the code. The code addresses how development 
grows organically and is connected logically.  



The process of developing the Form Based Code will show what the right size of a building is for 
Berwick. The Code could say that buildings shall not be this size or bigger. 
 
Paul Boisvert said that during the charrettes there was a consensus that the buildings should 
follow the lay of the land, to avoid blocking the view of greenery and the river. Larger structures 
would be in the Estabrook/Doran Neighborhood for example, could be a 4 or even 5 story 
building. This discussion point is a piece of the homework assignment. 
 
Mike introduced the idea of coming up with a “Top 10” key elements list.  
 
Pat Boisvert reinforced the “top-10” idea, and asked the group to define the top-10. 
 
Sustainability Discussion 
Frank Underwood asked how sustainability fits into the picture. Frank mentioned solar, 
geothermal and LED lights as an example. Frank suggested that it is time to step the Low Impact 
Design (LID) requirement up a notch to ensure the Berwick community gets what it wants. 
 
Mike Lassel said that Berwick could adopt the 2016 International Energy Code, which according 
to Kathy has been adopted by the State. Mr. Lassel said that the last 5-years has been incredible 
[in terms of the advancement of energy efficiency]. Mike said that heat pumps and solar is what 
would probably work best on the parcel. Mike said that the future of buildings is a highly 
insulated building, a good air exchanger, solar on the roof that feeds back into the grid and 
provides energy for the building. 
 
Kathy Connor said that the Town can certainly adopt these codes, and could do it for commercial 
uses only.  
 
Mike Lassel said that some communities have created funds to help Towns with incentivizing the 
transition to more energy efficient technologies. Mike mentioned maybe there is a way the 
community can support it. There are federal funds available. Lassel Architects strives for “near 
net-zero,” sometimes that last 5-10% is tough to do in terms of payback; the goal is to be as close 
to passive as possible. 
 
Rain gardens/green roofs can absorb an inch of rain, and the majority (85%) of rainstorms are an 
inch or less. 
 
Parking Discussion 
Mike Lassel stated that the code can restrict lot sizes to 20 or 30 spaces [or however big or small 
the Town determines is appropriate]. 
 



Paul Boisvert asked if the Town was getting to the point where they were going to accept the 
concept of shared parking. Mike stated that each apartment unit will require 1 parking spot. 
Kathy explained that parking is a good problem to have. 
 
Jen Aubin explained having shared parking and how it ties into the public expectation of know 
they will have to walk a block or so to get to their destinations. 
 
Dave Andreesen said that he likes pocket parking. Dave mentioned that he would not like to see 
a larger parking lot, and he referenced Target [there is a noticeable groan from the group heard 
upon the mention of Target parking lot]. 
 
Ruth Bleau mentioned wanting the parking to be mostly outside of the Prime Parcel. Mike Lassel 
asked where would the parking go? Rick asked about Mike’s quick analysis of parking. Mike 
Lassel said that there could be 250 or so spaces around the perimeter, and another 200-250 
spaces could go in the parcel. Rick Vandenberg said that ultimately the developer would like to 
spend less on parking. 
 
Existing Building Discussion 
Frank asked what if the buildings don’t fit into the Town’s Vision, where the Town’s Vision 
process started at a blank slate. Frank said that the group should pull out and look at everything. 
 
James Bellissimo talked about how the existing buildings lend itself to a funky and unique 
downtown feel as described by Dave Gamble. Also that the stack’s value is that it is the 
centerpiece for that unique funkiness. James said that he could see the “L-Shaped” Building as a 
relatively temporary building. The downtown is going to take many years to develop, and come 
10,15, 20-years down the road, we could see the L-Shaped building replaced by a brand new 
building. 
 
Mike said that the strength of the building remaining is the cost per square foot, and that the most 
sustainable act is to reuse the existing structures. The low cost per square foot lends itself to 
startup businesses being able to take advantage of the low-cost. Very few towns have the raw 
square footage that is open to be used in many ways. Sean Winston said that the issue with 
comparing Berwick to Saco is that Berwick’s building is not a traditional mill building. Ruth 
suggested that the concrete building could be spruced up with windows and other dressings. 
Kathy Connor said that brick buildings do tend to be more expensive to maintain. 
 
Kyle Flannagan said we are underemphasizing the opportunity for heavy industry for high 
paying jobs. Kyle mentioned engineering and manufacturing. Dave Andreesen said that heavy 
industry is not allowed. Frank Underwood said that there are clean industries that are allowed. 
[Low-Impact Industrial]  



Mike Lassel said that the form of the building dictates the use of the building. Mike mentioned 
that there are a number of machine shops that manufacture smaller components of larger 
products i.e. a plane. 
Frank said and Rick Vandenberg confirmed that the majority of the exterior concrete building is 
non-structural. [Meaning the exterior can be replaced/upgraded]  
 
Kathy Connor suggested for that town houses should require a garage; this will take care of some 
parking, and parking that wouldn’t be visible. 
 
Underground Utilities & Lighting 
Underground utilities will be incorporated into the design standards. The expected cost is $800K 
Frank Underwood said that the right way to look at the cost is to look at the available funding 
available. Sean Winston said that the biggest mistake Somersworth made was not having their 
utilities underground. James Bellissimo said that you can’t take a picture in downtown Berwick 
without seeing cables, and Paul Boisvert adds in poles as well. 
 
Frank mentioned Newmarket and the different funds they used to get everything underground. 
There was a $7.1M in total cost with $5M covered in grants, with the rest covered by TIF funds. 
 
Mike Lassel said that there are different fixture heights depending on the space. Frank 
Underwood mentioned that there are a needed 48 lights. Frank said that the Town could consider 
an adopt a spot where the business ties the light into their building and pays for it. 
 
Paul Boisvert asked about the 20% grant and if the Town should account for that. Mike said that 
there should be a grant subcommittee. Envision Berwick was not funded fully because there was 
not a desire to continue saving money for grant match, and that if a grant was awarded, the match 
would go to a Town Meeting vote for the match funds.  
 
Kathy Connor went over the “Top-10” list: Underground utilities, public green space, trail 
linkage from library to river, buildings follow lay of land, energy efficiency, wide sidewalks, 
parking and lighting, Sean Winston adds traffic patterns. James reinforced the idea that the trail 
connection through the Prime parcel that connects to other pieces in the town should be known 
as Berwick’s “spine.” 
 
Frank mentioned having the park and ride be remote from the downtown. 
 
Frank brought up the idea of pulling the post office downtown, Mike Lassel affirmed this was 
important, and in South Berwick along with the post office is a pharmacy that are central draws 
to the downtown. Sean Winston asked how to convince the Post Office to move downtown. The 
Post Office lease is up in 2-years. Frank said that the Post Office is key to Newmarket’s 



downtown. Pat said that if the post office were downtown, perhaps it would be used more. Frank 
mentioned also moving Mayo’s downtown as well, and the Bibber funeral home could move into 
the current Post office/Mayo’s location. 
 
In the next discussions the group can talk about Wilson Street, how School Street function, how 
does the open space work. We will have photographs and discuss how those spaces should work. 
The goal is to define what use is important within the downtown area, and then create language 
to help support that. 
 
Sidewalk Discussion  
Frank Underwood said that there is a sidewalk fund, and that even if a developer does a 
subdivision and it does not make sense to build sidewalks, they could pay into a sidewalk fund. 
Dave Andreesen said that a developer can put in sidewalks, or open space. 
 
Contract Zone 
Kathy Connor said that during the first meeting contract zone was discussed with Kathy, she was 
thinking that the Contract Zone allows Berwick to be in the driver seat. But because of the 
degree of detail in the form based code, the Town may not even need a contract zone. The Form 
Based Code is flexible enough and helps to avoid getting in the weeds about use, because the 
form dictates the use. 
 
Kathy explained that Contract Zoning is a state statute that allows the Town to adopt flexible 
zoning. In Euclidian Zoning, uses are kept apart from each other using different zoning districts. 
The contract zone allows the developer to enter into a contract with the Town. The developer has 
to approach the Town. 
 
Dave Andreesen asked why not just do a contact zone and avoid all the From Based Code work. 
Dave asked what the pros and cons are.  
 
Contract Zones are a huge process according to Kathy, they can be expensive for the developer 
because the contract zone requires a lot of meetings. The contract zone does not necessarily say 
what the Town wants so it is again expensive for the developer because it may require multiple 
revisions. Therefore Saco is beginning to look at a Form Based Code. An old church was allowed 
to be transformed into micro units, it was done using contract zone but it was a long process, 
which could be sped up by having a form-based code in place. On top of this Frank Underwood 
adds, is that Berwick has a Town Meeting form of government, which could add to the process. 
Frank said that the Town is 75% of the way there to support the Form Based Code, a Contract 
Zone may appear to come out of the woodwork. 
 



Kathy said that the contract zone could be protection until the Town puts in the Form Based 
Code. Niles Schore affirms that having a Contract Zone would be better than having nothing in 
place.  
 
Margawanda Home  
James Bellissimo shared with the group that there is a new development with the Sober Home. It 
looks like the Town will want to hold a special Town Meeting soon [Later discovered known to 
be August]. James asked Mike & Kathy if the contract zone agreed upon could begin once the 
Design Standards are finished. Kathy said we could rescind the contract zone once the Form 
Based Code is ready. 
 
James wondered out loud if the Town will have the appetite to hold a special Town Meeting in 
September after having a meeting to acquire the Sober Home. Sean said that the community 
could get behind the vote if they are properly informed.  
Dave asked if the Town would pay for the Sober Home through bonds or the unassigned balance 
fund. James mentioned that Impact Fees could help pay for some of it.  
 
Vote to recommend to the Selectmen to hold Special Town Meeting for September _, 2017.  
James Bellissimo asked the group to vote to get a clear idea of what to recommend to the 
Selectmen. James asked the group if we wanted to piggyback of Sober Home vote to amend 
Vision Report & Adopt Contract Zone Ordinance, which gives the Town the ability to enter into 
a Contract Zone.   
 
Kathy Connor said that it may not be necessary to adopt Contract Zone because the Form Based 
Code does what the Town wants [and it does it better].  Niles said that there is no need for the 
Contract Zone as long as the Town owns the property until the Design Standards are adopted.  
 
Ruth asked how the Berwick community is going to understand what they are voting on. Paul 
Boisvert said 101 sessions would be a good tool, plus public hearings at the Planning Board and 
Selectmen.  
 
Transfer of property 
Niles suggested what we vote on is to not transfer the property back until the Town has adopted 
either the Contract Zone Ordinance or a Form Based Code. James said that Steve said at the last 
meeting that the Town is not going to push the issue when it comes to transferring the property 
back. Niles said that Tom Wright said he wanted to give the property back yesterday.  
 
Rick Vandenberg said that Mark Kehaya can request the property back at any time.  
 



James requested a vote from the Planning Board to recommend to the Selectmen to hold a 
special Town Meeting in September. Dave Andreesen said the Planning Board could not vote 
tonight. Niles said that the vote [is more of a straw poll]. Dave Andreesen said there was already 
a general consensus.  
 
There was no vote taken, just an understanding there was an agreement with the group.  
The agreement is that the group requests a special Town Meeting in September for the Design 
Standards. Also agreed is that the property should not be transferred back, as in the Town should 
not push the issue, until the standards are in place. Also discussed was amending the Vision 
Report and adopting ordinance for Contract Zone if/when Sober Home Special Town Meeting is 
finalized. James will go to the Selectmen with the recommendation.  James will mention that we 
believe there is a risk, and we have a way to mitigate to that risk.  
 
James said that he feels confident that we will be able to educate the public. Pat Boisvert said 
that it would be a good idea to start educating the public now, just to make sure the group has a 
chance to review the message before it is publish to the public.  
 
Meeting Adjourned 

Timeline & Homework/Responsibilities/Next Steps  

• Those who have not read the Vision Report & BETA Report should do so, even those 
who have read it should re-visit because re-visited will have you amazed of what is 
already in there. 
 

• The next meeting is scheduled for May 25th. Mike asked the group to consider the two 
separate zones or neighborhoods, at the next meeting the decision should be made on 
that. 
 

• The group should think about what size of building is appropriate for Berwick, and where 
the different size buildings should go. 
 

• The next meeting will be a walkabout, and we will meet shortly after that. Then we will 
give Mike 3-4 weeks to compile the document for a first pass. The group will compile 
pictures and diagrams to further the discussion on how the land will change. 


